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1 truthful commercial speech, deprives consumers of accurate agricultural 

2 information, and serves no legitimate government interest. 

3 Under 27 C.F.R. § 4.27, the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau 

4 ("TTB") affirmatively authorizes vintage labeling for grape wine only, defining 

5 "vintage" solely in terms of grape harvest. There is no corresponding 

6 authorization for cider, mead, or fruit wine. Because TTB's regulatory regime 

7 allows only expressly authorized date statements, this operates as a categorical 

8 prohibition on truthful vintage statements for non-grape wines. 

9 TTB enforces this prohibition through the Certificate of Label Approval 

10 ("COLA") process, routinely rejecting labels for cider, mead, and fruit wine that 

11 include otherwise truthful, accurate vintage statements. 

12 This prohibition violates the First Amendment. Vintage year statements are 

13 truthful, verifiable, and material to consumers. There is no evidence that they are 

14 misleading. Less restrictive alternatives- such as definitional standards or 

15 disclosure requirements-are plainly available. 

16 By contrast, another federal agency, the United States Food and Drug 

17 Administration ("FDA"), regulates cider, mead, and fruit wine below 7% alcohol 

18 by volume ("ABV") and permits truthful vintage labeling without pre-approval, 

19 underscoring that TTB's opposite approach is unnecessary, unjustified, and 

20 irrational. 
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1 The rule is also arbitrary, capricious, and in excess of statutory authority 

2 under the Federal Alcohol Administration Act ("FAA Act"), which authorizes 

3 TTB to prevent deceptive labeling and to ensure adequate consumer 

4 information-not to suppress truthful information without justification. 

5 Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief and an injunction prohibiting Defendants 

6 from enforcing the prohibition on truthful vintage labeling for cider, mead, and 

7 fruit wine. 

8 JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9 1. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this action 

10 arises under the United States Constitution and laws of the United States. 

11 2. This action seeks relief under the First Amendment, the Federal 

12 Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706, and the Declaratory 

13 Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202. 

14 3. The United States has waived sovereign immunity for this action 

15 pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 702. 

16 

17 

18 

4. 

5. 

Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(l). 

PLAINTIFFS 

Garden Path Fermentation, LLC, a Washington limited liability 

19 company headquartered in Burlington, Washington ("Garden Path") is a 

20 producer of cider/mead/fruit wine who wishes to include truthful vintage 
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1 information on labels, but is prohibited from doing so by TTB's regulations and 

2 enforcement. 

3 6. Consumer Plaintiff Peter Wright ("Wright"), a resident of White 

4 Salmon, Klickitat County, Washington, is a consumer over the age of twenty-one 

5 who purchases cider, mead, fruit wine, and grape wine and values vintage year 

6 information. 

7 7. Plaintiff Wright desires to receive truthful vintage information for 

8 cider, mead, and fruit wine and is harmed by the government' s suppression of 

9 that information. 

10 DEFENDANTS 

11 8. Defendant United States of America 1s the sovereign entity 

12 responsible for implementation of the challenged regulatory scheme. 

13 9. Defendant Scott Bessent, Secretary of the Treasury, is sued in his 

14 official capacity. 

10. Defendant Bessent oversees TTB. 15 

16 11. Defendant Mary G. Ryan, Administrator of TTB, 1s sued in her 

17 official capacity. 

18 12. Defendant Ryan is responsible for implementing and enforcing the 

19 challenged regulations. 

20 
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1 13. Defendant Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau is the agency 

2 responsible for labeling regulations and the COLA process. 

3 FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

4 

5 

A. TTB Permits Vintage Speech for Grape Wine Only. 

14. Under 27 C.F.R. § 4.27, TTB defines and authorizes the use of 

6 "vintage" only for grape wine, expressly tying the vintage date to the year of 

7 grape harvest and imposing percentage and appellation requirements. 

8 15. TTB has never adopted corresponding provisions authorizing vintage 

9 statements for cider, mead, or fruit wine, despite their agricultural nature and 

10 year-to-year harvest variation. 

11 16. TTB guidance and enforcement practice treat non-authorized 

12 statements as prohibited. 

13 

14 

B. TTB Enforces a Functional Ban on Vintage for Non-Grape Wine. 

17. Under 27 C.F.R. § 4.39, date references such as vintages are restricted 

15 unless expressly permitted. 

16 18. Because § 4.27 authorizes vintage only for grape wine, TTB rejects 

17 vintage references for cider, mead, and fruit wine in the COLA process, even 

18 when factually accurate. 

19 19. Producers therefore cannot state vintage truthfully without risking 

20 enforcement. 
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1 

2 

C. The Speech at Issue is Truthful and Valuable. 

20. Vintage statements accurately communicate the agricultural year of 

3 harvest, which materially affects characteristics, reflects farming conditions, and 

4 assists consumers in evaluating quality. 

5 21. Plaintiff Wright values vintage information, he does and will use it in 

6 purchasing decisions, and is not confused by vintage statements on non-grape 

7 wine products. 

8 22. Vintage statements do not suggest that cider, mead, or fruit wine are 

9 grapewme. 

10 

11 

23. Vintage statements convey timing-not species. 

24. The fact that FDA permits vintage or harvest-year labeling for cider, 

12 mead, and fruit wine under 7% ABV without prior approval confirms that truthful 

13 vintage information is not inherently misleading, does not confuse consumers, 

14 and can coexist with federal labeling objectives. 

15 

16 

D. No Evidence Supports Government Concerns. 

25. Defendants' regulatory scheme is internally inconsistent: if vintage 

1 7 claims are confusing, they should be barred for all products; if helpful, they 

18 should not be forbidden for some and not others. 

19 26. Less restrictive alternatives (e.g., definitions, disclaimers, or 

20 standards parallel to those used for grape wine) are available but ignored. 
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1 

2 

E. FDA Permits Vintage Labeling. 

27. The Federal Alcohol Administration Act ("FAA Act") and TTB's 

3 implementing regulations govern the labeling of wine- including cider, mead, 

4 and fruit wine-only when such products contain 7% alcohol by volume or more. 

5 See 27 C.F.R. Part 4. 

6 28. Cider, mead, and other wine beverages that contain less than 7% ABV 

7 are not regulated by TTB for labeling purpose; instead, such products fall under 

8 the FDA's authority pursuant to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and 

9 the Fair Packaging and Labeling Act, 21 U.S.C. § 21 ("FD&C Act"). 

10 29. FDA-regulated alcoholic beverages do not require a COLA, and the 

11 FDA does not impose any pre-market label approval process. 

12 30. Manufacturers are responsible for ensuring compliance with FDA 

13 labeling rules, but labels are not pre-screened or pre-cleared by the agency. 

14 31 . As a result, FDA-regulated cider, mead, and fruit wine products below 

15 7% ABV may lawfully include truthful, non-misleading vintage or harvest-year 

16 information on their labels. 

17 32. There is no FDA regulation that prohibits vintage statements, and no 

18 federal prior-approval mechanism that censors such speech before it reaches 

19 consumers. 

20 
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1 33. Conversely, once a cider, mead, or fruit wine contains 7% ABV or 

2 more, labeling jurisdiction shifts to TTB, and those products become subject to 

3 TTB 's restrictive label approval system and its categorical refusal to permit 

4 vintage statements on non-grape wine labels. 

5 34. This creates the anomalous and irrational result that otherwise 

6 identical products-cider, mead, or fruit wine differing only by alcohol 

7 strength- are treated differently by the federal government as to whether 

8 producers may disclose truthful vintage information to consumers: below 7% 

9 ABV, such information is permitted; at or above 7% ABV, it is prohibited. 

10 35. The FDA regime demonstrates that federal regulators can and do 

11 permit truthful agricultural-year statements on alcoholic beverage labels without 

12 pre-approval and without any evidence of consumer confusion. 

13 36. TTB's prohibition therefore cannot be justified as a consumer-

14 protection necessity when another federal agency expressly allows the same 

15 speech in the same marketplace. 

16 COUNT I - FIRST AMENDMENT VIOLATION 

1 7 (Declaratory and Injunctive Relief) 

18 

19 

3 7. Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs. 

38. Vintage statements are truthful, non-misleading commercial speech 

20 entitled to First Amendment protection. 
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1 39. Defendants' prohibition restricts speech based on content and product 

2 category. 

3 40. Defendants cannot show a substantial governmental interest 

4 supported by evidence. 

5 41. The prohibition does not directly and materially advance any 

6 legitimate interest. 

7 42. The prohibition is more extensive than necessary and obvious less 

8 restrictive alternatives exist. 

9 43. The existence of a parallel federal regulatory regime (the FDA's 

10 regulation of alcoholic beverages under 7% ABV) that allows vintage labeling 

11 without prior approval demonstrates that Defendants' speech ban does not 

12 directly and materially advance any substantial governmental interest and is far 

13 more restrictive than necessary. 

14 44. If vintage labeling truly posed a risk of consumer confusion, the FDA 

15 would not permit it; instead, the FDA's allowance underscores that Defendants' 

16 prohibition is unjustified, overbroad, and constitutionally suspect. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

45. Accordingly, the restriction violates the First Amendment. 

COUNT II-ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT 

(5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), (C)) 

46. Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs. 
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1 4 7. The FAA Act authorizes TTB to prevent deception and provide 

2 adequate consumer information. 

3 48. The FAA Act does not authorize suppression of truthful information 

4 absent evidence of harm. 

5 49. Defendants' prohibition exceeds statutory authority, lacks reasoned 

6 explanation, is arbitrary and capricious, and is contrary to the Constitutional. 

7 50. Defendants' prohibition is further arbitrary because the FDA 

8 regulates substantially similar beverages and permits vintage or harvest-year 

9 labeling without pre-approval or prohibition, demonstrating that the federal 

10 government can accommodate such truthful information without consumer harm. 

11 51 . Defendants' actions must be set aside under the AP A. 

12 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

13 Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court: 

14 A. Declare that Defendants' prohibition on vintage labeling for cider, 

15 mead, and fruit wine violates the First Amendment; 

16 B. Declare that the challenged regulations and enforcement are arbitrary, 

1 7 capricious, and unlawful under the AP A; 

18 C. Enjoin Defendants from prohibiting truthful vintage labeling on cider, 

19 mead, and fruit wine; 

20 
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1 D. Order Defendants to process COLA applications without rejecting 

2 truthful vintage statements on such products; 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

E. 

F. 

Award Plaintiffs attorneys' fees and costs as permitted by law; and 

Grant any other relief the Court deems just and proper 

Dated: January 6, 2026 
Attornes for Plaintiffs 

Isl Justin D. Leigh 
Justin D. Leigh, Washington Attorney No. 55307 
PHILLIPS REYNIER SOMERFIELD CLINE & SMITH, LLP 
P.O. Box 758 
Hood River, OR 97031 
Tel: 541-386-4264 
justin@phillipsreynier.com 
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